Telephone: 608-266-8922 Fax: 608-266-1096



Department of Children and Families 201 East Washington Avenue PO Box 8916 Madison WI 53708-8916

> Telephone: 608-267-3905 Fax: 608-266-6836

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Date: June 7, 2019

DMS, DECE, and DFES Operations Memo 19-J7

- To: Income Maintenance Supervisors Income Maintenance Lead Workers Income Maintenance Staff Workforce Development Boards W-2 Agencies Training Staff Child Care Eligibility and Authorization Supervisors and Workers
- From: Deborah Waite, Deputy Bureau Director Bureau of Enrollment Policy and Systems Division of Medicaid Services Department of Health Services

Katherine McGurk, Director Bureau of Early Learning and Policy Division of Early Care and Education Department of Children and Families

Margaret McMahon, Director Bureau of Working Families Division of Family and Economic Security Department of Children and Families

Affected Programs:
BadgerCare Plus
Caretaker Supplement
Children First
Emergency Assistance
⊠ FoodShare
FoodShare Employment and Training
Job Access Loan
Job Center Programs
🖾 Medicaid
Other Employment Programs
Refugee Assistance Program
SeniorCare
Wisconsin Shares Child Care
🛛 Wisconsin Works
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act

System Enhancements to Support Self-Employment Policy and Process

CONTENTS

1
2
2
3
3
3
3
1

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 2 of 42

Qualified Business Income Deduction for All Programs
CARES
CARES Worker Web
Self-Employment Page
Employment Summary Page
Employment Summary Details Page
BC+ Tax Deductions Gatepost Page and BC+ Tax Deductions Page
Verification Checklist Page
Verification Due Dates Page
Correspondence
Verification Checklist
FoodShare Six-Month Report Form
ACCESS
Self-Employment Page Changes
Tax Deductions Page Change
Case Summary and PPRF
Conversion
When the Old-Format Sequences Are Pending
When Updating Verifications
When There Is a Net Operating Loss
When Changes Are Reported in ACCESS 41
Contacts

CROSS REFERENCE

- Operations Memo <u>19-J4</u>
- FoodShare Wisconsin Handbook, Section 4.3.3 Farming and Other Self Employment Income
- BadgerCare Plus Eligibility Handbook, <u>Section 16.4.3 Self-Employment Income</u> and <u>Section 16.3.3</u> <u>Tax Deductions</u>
- Medicaid Eligibility Handbook, Section 15.6 Self-Employment Income
- Wisconsin Shares Child Care Policy and Process Handbook, Section 1.3.8.3.2 Self-Employment
- Wisconsin Works (W-2) Manual, Section 3.2.8.2 Farm & Self-Employment Income
- Process Help, <u>Section 16.2 Self-Employment Income</u> and <u>Section 18.5 BC+ Tax Deductions</u>

EFFECTIVE DATE

June 22, 2019

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 3 of 42

PURPOSE

This operations memo announces CARES Worker Web (CWW), ACCESS, and correspondence enhancements made to further support policy and streamline processes related to self-employment income.

BACKGROUND

Self-employment income is earned directly from one's own business and is typically reported via federal income tax returns as farm, self-employment, rental, or royalty income. These tax returns are used to verify self-employment income and expenses for assistance programs. If this income is not (or has not been) reported to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), workers may ask individuals to complete a Self-Employment Income Report form (SEIRF) as verification of their self-employment.

After implementation of the enhancements detailed in this memo on June 22, 2019, many worker processes for collecting, identifying, and calculating allowable self-employment income will be automated. Based on information entered onto the CWW Self-Employment page, CARES will determine whether taxes or SEIRFs (including how many SEIRFs) will be requested of the individual. In addition, notices will be enhanced to request the appropriate (and applicable) tax forms or SEIRFs.

POLICY

Enhancements announced in this memo were developed to further support current program policy regarding self-employment for FoodShare, BadgerCare Plus, Medicaid for the Elderly, Blind, and Disabled (EBD Medicaid), Caretaker Supplement, Wisconsin Shares Child Care Subsidy Program (Wisconsin Shares), and Wisconsin Works (W-2).

Minor policy changes and clarifications regarding self-employment income are described below.

Note: There is no change in policy for W-2. See <u>Wisconsin Works (W-2) Manual, Section 3.2.8.2</u> for how to count self-employment income.

FISHING AND HUNTING BUSINESS TYPES FOR FOODSHARE

Fishing and hunting self-employment business types will be budgeted like farming as described in FoodShare Wisconsin Handbook, Section 4.3.3.8 Self-employment Expenses.

CARES offsets farming income losses with other countable income when a self-employed individual receives (or anticipates receiving) annual gross income of \$1,000 or more from the farming operation. After implementation, CARES will automatically determine the offset for losses from fishing and hunting business types as it does for farming.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 4 of 42

BACKDATED ELIGIBILITY FOR HEALTH CARE

Applicants or members can request health care benefits for past months (up to three months prior to the month of application) and may be certified for any backdated months in which they would have been eligible had they applied in that month. When an applicant or member requests backdated benefits and reports earned or unearned income, actual income information (not prospective budgeting) is used to determine eligibility. For example, paystubs or employer verification forms show actual employment income earned for each backdated month.

However, self-employment income is counted differently from other earned or unearned income. Selfemployment income is averaged over the number of months the business has been in operation in a tax year or anticipated based on an average of SEIRFs. It is not based on exact income for a single month, as that does not take into consideration seasonal work and fluctuating income for the business. If an individual had initially applied in a backdated month, eligibility would not be determined on the basis of that single month of self-employment income; instead, eligibility would be based on an average of at least three months of income.

When a self-employed applicant or member requests backdated benefits for health care, workers must do the following:

- 1. Average self-employment income for the application month forward (to determine ongoing eligibility).
- 2. Determine eligibility for the backdated months as if the applicant or member had applied in the earliest backdated month requested:
 - If income is reported via federal taxes, the tax filing year has not changed, and no significant change in circumstances has occurred, the same averaged income and expenses from the tax forms can be used for ongoing and backdated eligibility.
 - In all other scenarios, workers must consider SEIRFs and the average to be counted if that earliest month was the application month. If estimates would have been used, but the month has passed, actual information should be provided on the SEIRFs.
- 3. Consider any significant changes that occurred during the backdated months that would require a new average to be calculated for the second and/or third month. If there has not been a significant change or a change in the tax filing year during the backdated months, the average calculated for the earliest month can be used throughout the backdated months.

See <u>Backdated Eligibility</u> in the CARES Worker Web section of this memo for examples describing both policy and process.

QUALIFIED BUSINESS INCOME DEDUCTION FOR ALL PROGRAMS

Effective the 2018 tax year under Section 199A of the Internal Revenue Code, business owners may claim the Qualified Business Income (QBI) tax deduction on their individual federal income tax return as a separate deduction entered on Line 9 of the 1040 Tax Form. However, the QBI tax deduction is not allowed as a deduction that can offset self-employment income.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 5 of 42

CARES

CARES will be enhanced to better support FoodShare, health care, Caretaker Supplement, Wisconsin Shares, and W-2 policies related to self-employment. This includes updates to CWW pages, correspondences, and ACCESS.

CARES WORKER WEB

At implementation, the following pages in CWW will be enhanced:

- <u>Self-Employment</u>
- Employment Summary
- Employment Summary Details
- <u>BC+ Tax Deductions Gatepost and BC+ Tax Deductions</u>
- <u>Verification Checklist</u>
- <u>Verification Due Dates</u>

SELF-EMPLOYMENT PAGE

The Self-Employment page will be enhanced to accurately collect, calculate, and display selfemployment information:

- Dynamic sections (or dynasections) will assist in determining the type of verification that should be requested.
- The page will systematically account for disallowed expenses per benefit program.
- Monthly countable income summaries will display at the bottom of each self-employment sequence.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 6 of 42

38 Self-Employm	nent							Cancel Reset
Self-Employment Infor	mation							
Effective Period								
* Begin Month: MM	/ YYYY			End Mo	nth: MM /	YYYY	Last Updated	
Delete Reason:			v 🗉					
Additional Information								
* Individual:				~	Sequence:			
Business Name:					Business Ta	K ID:		Q
* Business Ownership Ty	ype:	, 					,	
* Business Type:								
* When did this business	begin?							
* Has this business filed	taxes?				Most Recent	Tax Year Filed		
		•			for Business:			
Has a significant chang occurred?	je in business			\sim	Significant C	hange Month:	/	
Actively engaged in ma	anaging this							
Monthly Hours:					Verification:			
-	Dist						1	
Tax/SEIRF Verification	Details Display	Tax/SEIRF Results			Taulorier			
Tax/SEIRF Form:				\checkmark	Tax/SEIRF F	orm verification:		< □
Number of Months for A	Average:							
Number of SEIRF Mon	ths:							
SEIRF Begin Month:		MM / YYYY			SEIRF End M	Nonth:	MM / YYYY	
Monthly Income Details	S Calculate		Overrid	le Amour	its	Override Rea	son	
* Gross Income:	\$.	\$					
* Gross Expenses:	\$		s					
Disallowed Expenses	:		,			,		
FS:								
	\$		\$					
MAGI:	\$ \$	· 	s s	. 	_			
MAGI: EBD:	\$ \$ \$	•	\$ \$. 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS:	\$ \$ \$ \$		s s s	. 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$ \$	- - - -				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$. 				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		s s s s s	· [•] •] •]				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size =	 . .<	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	· [• [•] • [•]				
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment: Countable Monthly Inc FS: \$	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = ome Summary	 <	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	- (- (- (- (- (- (- (- (- (- (; \$			
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment: Countable Monthly Inc FS: \$	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = ome Summary	 , ,<	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	- [- , [- ,] -	: \$			
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment: Countable Monthly Inc FS: \$ MAGI: \$	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = ome Summary -	 , ,<	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	- , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	: \$ \$ \$			
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment: FS: \$ MAGI: \$ EBD: \$	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = ome Summary 	 <	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	- [- , [- , [- ,] - ,] - , [- ,] - ,] - , [- ,] -	s s s s			
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment: Comment: FS: \$ MAGI: \$ EBD: \$ Cobsolete Information	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = come Summary 	 	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 character	- [- [[[[[[[[[[] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] []] []] [] 	: \$; ; ;			
MAGI: EBD: CTS: CC: W-2: Comment:	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ Current Size = ome Summary 	 . .	s s s s o character	- [- , [] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []] , []]] , []]] , []]]]	: \$; \$; \$			ΥΥΥΥ

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 7 of 42

The Self-Employment page will have three sections:

- Self-Employment Information
- (Dynamic) Tax Form(s) or Self-Employment Income Report Forms (one of these two dynasections will display based on the information entered into the Self-Employment Information section)
- Details and Summary

Self-Employment Information Section

Workers will enter information about the self-employment business in the "Self-Employment Information" section. Some field labels have changed and new fields have been added to assist workers in determining whether taxes or SEIRFs will be requested and/or needed of the individual.

Self-Employment Information				
Effective Period				
* Begin Month: MM / YYYY		End Mon	th: MM / YYYY	Last Updated:
Delete Reason:	1			
Additional Information				
* Individual:		~	Sequence:	
Business Name:		8	Business Tax ID:	
* Business Ownership Type:		✓ 🔳		
* Business Type:		✓ 🔳		
* When did this business begin?	MM / YYYY			
* Has this business filed taxes?	~		Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business:	
* Has a significant change in business occurred?		\checkmark	Significant Change Month:	1
Actively engaged in managing this business?				
Monthly Hours:			Verification:	▼
Tax/SEIRF Verification Details	y Tax/SEIRF Results			
Tax/SEIRF Form:		~	Tax/SEIRF Form Verification:	▼ 1
Number of Months for Average:	~			
Number of SEIRF Months:				
SEIRF Begin Month:	MM / YYYY		SEIRF End Month:	MM / YYYY

Figure 2 Self-Employment Information Section

The "Self-Employment Information" section consists of three sections:

- Effective Period
- Additional Information
- Tax/SEIRF Verification Details

Effective Period

The specific month and year workers enter in this field can impact whether tax form(s) or SEIRFs will be requested and, if applicable, the number of requested SEIRFs.

Self-Employment Information		
Effective Period		
* Begin Month: MM / YYYY	End Month: MM / YYYY	Last Updated:
Delete Reason:		

Figure 3 Effective Period Section

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 8 of 42

Additional Information

Workers will enter information about the self-employed individual and their business in the "Additional Information" section. The values entered in this section determine whether tax forms or SEIRFs will be required, the specific tax form(s) or number of SEIRFs required, and the number of months of self-employment to be considered for such verifications.

Additional Information				
* Individual:		~	Sequence:	
Business Name:			Business Tax ID:	9
* Business Ownership Type:		< 1		
* Business Type:		< 1		
* When did this business begin?	MM / YYYY			
* Has this business filed taxes?	~		Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business:	
Has a significant change in business occurred?		~	Significant Change Month:	/
Actively engaged in managing this business?				
Monthly Hours:			Verification:	✓ 1

Figure 4 Additional Information Section

Business Ownership Type

Workers must select a business ownership type. This will help determine what type of tax form(s) will be required (if applicable). Options include:

- PP Partnership
- SC S Corporation
- SP Sole Proprietorship
- UN Unknown

Workers should select UN – Unknown if the individual is unsure of the business ownership type or if the individual did not provide this information. This will cause the Verification Checklist notice to request all tax forms and schedules rather than specific forms. When UN is selected, workers must update the business ownership type based on verification received.

Note: C Corporation is no longer a business ownership type option. For more information, refer to Operations Memo 19-J4, "Corporation Income No Longer Budgeted as Self-Employment Income".

Business Type

Workers must select a business type for the business owned by the individual. Certain business types will have an impact on the verification requested and how the income is calculated. For example, selecting the FA-Farming business type will determine that a Farm SEIRF will be required (if applicable). In addition, selecting the Rental business type will impact whether the CARES needs to capture active management information to budget the income as earned or unearned for FoodShare and EBD Medicaid. See <u>attachment 1</u> of this memo for a list of new, renamed, and obsolete business types.

When did this business begin?

Workers must enter the month and year the business began in the "When did this business begin?" field (formerly titled Business Start Month). The value entered in these fields will help determine whether taxes or SEIRFs will be requested. It also determines the number of months for which information will be considered.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 9 of 42

Has this business filed taxes?

Based on the individual's response, workers must select Yes or No for the new "Has this business filed taxes?" field. This field determines whether taxes or SEIRFs will be considered. If workers select Yes, the "Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business" field becomes required.

Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business

If the individual's business has filed federal taxes, workers must enter the most recent tax year that their business filed taxes in the "Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business" field (formerly titled Most Recent Business Taxes Filed Year). This field determines whether taxes or SEIRFs will be considered.

For FoodShare, health care, and Caretaker Supplement, taxes can only be used to verify income and expenses if the business has filed taxes within the last two years. Wisconsin Shares requires that taxes are filed with the IRS annually. If the year entered is more than two years old, the following informational message will display:

The following events have occurred:

AE436: 'Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business' is more than two years before the current date. Check if this needs to be updated. If not, SEIRFs will be requested.

Figure 5 Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business Information Banner

Has a significant change in business occurred?

The response to this question helps CARES determine whether tax forms or SEIRFs will be requested.

If the individual selects Yes or I don't know as a response to the question regarding a significant change in ACCESS, this field will be populated with a ? in CWW. The individual must provide information to the worker to clarify that the change is actually a significant change per program policy, and not just a normal fluctuation in the business, seasonal employment, or a circumstance that does not affect income over time.

If not already working with the individual by phone or in person, workers must attempt to contact the individual by phone.

- If it is determined that the change does not qualify as a significant change, workers must update the answer to No.
- If unable to reach the individual, workers must select ?-Doesn't Know or Questionable. This response will cause the Verification Checklist to ask the individual to contact the agency regarding the reported significant change for the self-employment business. This question must have a definitive Yes or No response before CWW can determine which type of income verification will be requested. Workers should **not** attempt to collect any information for the Tax Form(s) or Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection until they have clarified the significant change question with the individual.
- If the individual does not contact the agency timely, workers must update the Yes to either F-Failed to Provide Information or WN-Not Verified W-2 Or Childcare. (If the individual has not contacted the agency within the W-2 or Wisconsin Shares timeframe, but it is still before the due date for IM programs, selecting Not Verified W-2 Or Childcare will fail Wisconsin Shares and W-2, but will continue to pend IM programs. Failed to Provide Information will fail all programs (except Wisconsin Shares when the case is in "Ongoing" mode [not at application or renewal for Wisconsin

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 10 of 42

Shares]; see <u>Wisconsin Shares Child Care Policy and Process Handbook</u>, Section 1.5.12.1 Ongoing <u>Financial Verification</u>).

• If it is determined that the change does qualify, workers must update the answer to Yes. Workers will be prompted to enter a case comment.

Note: If the significant change question is updated to ?-Doesn't Know or Questionable, F-Failed to Provide Information, or WN-Not Verified W-2 or Wisconsin Shares for an ongoing self-employment sequence, workers will only be able to update the Effective Month and the Case Comments.

Significant Change Month

Workers must enter the month and year of the significant change if Yes was entered in the "Has a significant change in business occurred?" field. The significant change month must be an agreed upon date between the worker and individual reporting the significant change.

Actively Engaged in Managing this Business

The Actively Engaged in Managing this Business field (formerly titled Self-Managed) will be enabled or disabled depending on the business type:

- If the business type option is anything but RP-Rental Property, the field will be disabled and set to Yes.
- If the business type option is RP-Rental Property, the field will be enabled with a blank value. Workers can select Yes or No based on the individual's response.

For FoodShare and EBD Medicaid, rental income will be budgeted as earned or unearned income depending on whether the individual is actively engaged in managing the business. If the individual is not actively engaged in managing the business, the income will be budgeted as unearned income regardless of the number of hours they work for the business each month. If the individual is actively engaged in managing the business (Yes response), the rental income will be budgeted as unearned income if the Monthly Hours are less than 80 hours and earned income if the Monthly Hours are 80 hours or more.

Monthly Hours

Workers must enter a number for the "Monthly Hours" field based on the average number of hours the individual reports working per month for the business. (Workers must multiply reported weekly hours by 4.3 when converting to monthly hours.) Verification of this number will only be required when it is questionable. The value for this field is used to determine whether certain individuals are meeting applicable work requirements. However, note that Wisconsin Shares and W-2 do not base employment activity on this field:

- Wisconsin Shares uses the Child Care Statewide Administration on the Web (CSAW) system to determine the maximum number of weekly hours for which the individual may be authorized for child care. This calculation is based on the individual's income divided by the state minimum wage and therefore may not align with the "Monthly Hours" field in CWW. Workers also need to consider the policy in <u>Wisconsin Shares Child Care Policy and Process Handbook, Section 2.4.3.7</u> <u>Authorizations for Ongoing Self-Employment</u> for these authorizations.
- W-2 uses the Wisconsin Works Programs (WWP) application to assess employment activity.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 11 of 42

Tax/SEIRF Verification Details

The new "Tax/SEIRF Verification Details" section will allow workers to pend a case for Tax or SEIRF verification. After entering all information in the "Additional Information" section, workers must click the Display Tax/SEIRF Results button within the "Tax/SEIRF Verification Details" section. Once workers click the button, CWW will determine whether Tax or SEIRF verification will be required, the specific form(s) required, and the number of months of self-employment for which information is needed.

Additional Information			
* Individual:		Sequence:	5
Business Name:	BUSINESS 1	Business Tax ID:	
* Business Ownership Type:	SP - SOLE PROPRIETORS 🗸 🔳		
* Business Type:	CN - CONSULTING		
* When did this business begin?	01 / 2015		
* Has this business filed taxes?	Y - Yes 🗸	Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business:	2018
* Has a significant change in business occurred?	N - NO 🗸	Significant Change Month:	/
Actively engaged in managing this business?	Yes		
Monthly Hours:	100	Verification:	? - NOT YET VERIFIED 🗸 🔳
Tax/SEIRF Verification Details Display	/ Tax/SEIRF Results		

Figure 6 Tax/SEIRF Verifications Details Section

Tax/SEIRF Form – Tax Form

If CARES determines that tax forms are required for verification, the Tax/SEIRF Form field will be auto-populated with the IRS tax form(s) specific to the business ownership type.

Tax/SEIRF Verification Details	Display Tax/SEIRF Results		
Tax/SEIRF Form:	Form 1120S and Schedule F 🗸	Tax/SEIRF Form Verification:	× 🗉
Number of Months for Average:	~		
Number of SEIRF Months:			
SEIRF Begin Month:	MM / YYYY	SEIRF End Month:	MM / YYYY

Figure 7 Tax/SEIRF Verifications Details Section With S Corporation Tax Form Option Selected

All Sole-Proprietor Schedules

When the SP-Sole Proprietors option is selected in the Business Ownership Type field, and taxes are required, the Tax/SEIRF Form field will be auto-populated with the All Sole-Prop Schedules option. This option will only apply when pending for verification. Because it may not be known which form(s) the sole proprietor filed, individuals will be asked to provide all of their tax forms and schedules (the Verification Checklist will list the Schedule C, C-EZ, E, F and Form 4797 as examples). Once verification is received, workers must update the field to the specific tax form the business filed. If workers forget to update the Tax/SEIRF Form field to the appropriate sole-proprietorship form and select a valid verification code, they will receive a warning message and will not be able to leave the page. In addition, the Tax Form(s) dynasection will not display if the Tax/SEIRF Form field is All Sole-Prop Schedules.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 12 of 42

If the individual's business has filed more than one of the sole proprietorship schedules or forms (for example, they filed both a Schedule C and Form 4797), workers must build separate sequences for each schedule or form provided if the business is still in operation. In order to support policy that individuals should submit their most recently filed tax forms, workers will be prompted when entering a tax year more than two years prior.

Specific Tax Form

Workers must select one of the following specific tax forms once the individual submits the form for the business:

- Schedule C
- Schedule C-EZ
- Schedule E
- Schedule F
- Form 4797

Workers cannot select one of these forms and pend for verification.

Note: Even though the Schedule D (Capital Gains and Losses) is associated with sole proprietorships, it will not be an option on the Self-Employment page. Instead, workers must continue to enter information from a Schedule D on the Unearned Income page as Income Type "PC-Personal Capital Gains."

Form 1120s and Schedule K-1 (1120s)

The 1120s and Schedule K-1 (1120s) option is auto-populated when the SC-S Corporation business ownership type is selected and taxes are required. When pending for verification, the Verification Checklist will specifically ask the individual to submit Form 1120s and Schedule K-1 (1120s).

Form 1065 and Schedule K-1 (1065)

The 1065 and Schedule K-1 (1065) option is auto-populated when the PP-Partnership business ownership type is selected and taxes are required. When pending for verification, the Verification Checklist will specifically ask the individual to submit Form 1065 and Schedule K-1 (1065).

Unknown

The Unknown option is auto-populated when the UN-Unknown business ownership type is selected. Depending on values entered in the "Additional Information" section, either taxes or SEIRFs may be requested. Workers can only select ?, Q?, NV, QV, or WN as a pending/failure code for taxes.

Workers must update the "Business Ownership Type" and "Tax/SEIRF Form" fields with the appropriate type and form once verification(s) are received.

Tax/SEIRF Form – SEIRF Form

The SEIRF option is auto-populated if any business type other than Farming is selected and SEIRFs are required. The Farm SEIRF option is auto-populated if Farming is selected as the business type and SEIRFs are required.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 13 of 42

Tax/SEIRF Verification Details	Display Tax/SEIRF Results				
Tax/SEIRF Form:	SEIRF	~	Tax/SEIRF Form Verification:	AF - AGENCY FORM	~ □
Number of Months for Average:	\checkmark				
Number of SEIRF Months:	3				
SEIRF Begin Month:	01 / 2019		SEIRF End Month:	03 / 2019	

Figure 8 Tax/SEIRF Verifications Details Section With the SEIRF Form Information

Unknown

The Unknown option is auto-populated when the UN-Unknown business ownership type is selected. Depending on values entered in the "Additional Information" section, either taxes or SEIRFs may be requested. Workers can select any verification code (including non-pending and non-failure codes) for SEIRFs.

Tax/SEIRF Form Verification

The Tax Form(s) dynasection or Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection will only display once workers update the Tax/SEIRF Form Verification field to one of the following verification codes:

- For Tax Forms(s), workers can select TX, PN, or FN.
- For Self-Employment Income Report Forms, workers can select AF, PN, FN, or OW.

Note: Updating a passing code to a failure code or a pending code will remove the dynasection and clear values entered in the dynasection (though the values in the "Details and Summary" section will remain intact).

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 14 of 42

Self-Employment Information						
Effective Period						
* Begin Month: 04 / 2019		End Month: MM / YYYY	Last Updated: 04/25/2019			
Delete Reason:	✓ 1)				
Additional Information						
* Individual:		Sequence:	5			
Business Name:	BUSINESS 1	Business Tax ID:				
* Business Ownership Type:	PP - PARTNERSHIP					
* Business Type:	CN - CONSULTING					
* When did this business begin?	01 / 2015					
* Has this business filed taxes?	Y - Yes 🗸	Most Recent Tax Year Filed	d 2018			
* Has a significant change in business	N - NO	Significant Change Month:	/			
Actively engaged in managing this	Yes 🗸					
business? Monthly Hours:	100	Verification:				
montally rious.	100	Vernieution.				
Tax/SEIRF Verification Details	ay Tax/SEIRF Results					
Tax/SEIRF Form:	Form 1065 and Schedule	K- V Tax/SEIRF Form Verificatio	n: TX - TAX RECORDS 🗸 🗐			
Number of Months for Average:	12 🗸					
Number of SEIRF Months:						
SEIRF Begin Month:	MM / YYYY	SEIRF End Month:	MM / YYYY			
Tax Form(s)						
PARTNERSHIP: IRS Form 1065 and 1065	nd Schedule K-1(1065)					
* Gross Income:	\$	* Federal, State, and Local Income Tax	: s .			
Gross Income (If Loss):	\$	* Charitable Donations:	\$			
* Gross Expense:	\$	* Guaranteed Payments to Partners:	\$			
* Depreciation:	\$	* Employer Work-Related Personal Exp	penses: \$			
* Depletion:	\$	* Work-Related Personal Expenses:	\$			
* Amortization:	\$	* Principal Payments on Loans:	\$			
Based on client's response, popula	te blank fields as '0'					

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 15 of 42

Self-Employment Information								
Effective Period								
* Begin Month: 04 / 2019		End M	Nonth: MM	/ YYY)	r	Last	Updated:	04/25/2019
Delete Reason:	~							
Additional Information								
* Individual:			Sequenc	e:		5		
Business Name:			Business	Tax ID:			9	
* Business Ownership Type:	SP - SOLE PROPRIET	ORS 🗸 🔳						
* Business Type:	CN - CONSULTING	~ [≣						
* When did this business begin?	01 / 2019							
* Has this business filed taxes?	N - No 🗸		Most Red for Busin	cent Tax `	rear Filed			
* Has a significant change in business occurred?	N - NO	~	Significar	nt Change	e Month:		/	
Actively engaged in managing this business?	Yes 🗸							
Monthly Hours:	100		Verificatio	on:		? - N	OT YET VERI	FIED 🗸 🔳
Tax/SEIRF Verification Details	y Tax/SEIRF Results							
Tax/SEIRF Form:	SEIRF	~	Tax/SEIF	RF Form \	/erification	AF - A	AGENCY FOR	
Number of Months for Average:		-						
Number of SEIRF Months:	4							
SEIRF Begin Month:	01 / 2019		SEIRF E	nd Month		04	/ 2019	
Self-Employment Income Report Form	ns Export to PDF						🔻 Expand A	II ▶Collapse All
▼ SEIRF								
SEIRF Month(s): Jan 2019	Feb 2019 🗌 Mar 2019	Apr 2019						
Cross Business Income								
t Gross Receipts and/or Sales:	e							
* Other Income - Specify:	\$							
Gross Pusinoss Exponsos	۵J · J							
t Wages and Commissions Daid to			duantiaina D		Dublication		-	
Employees:	sj . j		Advertising, L	Jues, and	Publication	ns:	s	
* Employee Benefit Programs, Pensions, and Profit Sharing:	s .		axes (do noi	l include i	ncome tax	es).	জ 	
* Travel:	s .		nsurance.	o of loss	ma Dradua	ing Acco	ঙ	
* Vehicle:	s .		Purchase Pric	ce of Inco	me-Produc	ing Asse	ts: \$	
* Rent or Lease:	s .		rincipal Payl	ment on L	_oans:		S	·[
* Repairs and Maintenance:	s .		Depreciation:				s	·
* Telephone and Utilities:	s .	•	Depletion:				S	·[
* Materials and Supplies:	s	*/	Amortization:				S	· .
* Freight:	s .							
* Legal and Professional Fees:	s .							
Other Expenses				Disallo	wed Exper	ises For		
Description	A	mount		FS	MAGI	EBD	CTS C	C W-2
	s							
	s		•					
	s							
Based on client's response, popula	te blank fields as '0'							
							Add A	ditional SEIRF(s)

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 16 of 42

Number of Months for Average

This field is enabled only when taxes are required. When building a new page, this field defaults to blank. If the individual's tax form(s) show that the business was in operation for all 12 months of the year, workers must enter 12. If the business was not in operation for 12 months, workers must update the Number of Months for Average to the correct number of months for which the total income and expenses need to be averaged. For example, if the business started in July of the tax year, the worker must enter 6 in the Number of Months for Average field.

Number of SEIRF Months

This field is auto-populated when SEIRFs are required with a value equal to or less than 12. The value is based on the current (system) date and the values entered in the "Additional Information" section. CARES will determine how many SEIRFs are required based on what workers enter for the "When did this business begin?" field and if there was a significant change, the value in the Significant Change Month field.

When it has been less than three full months since the business began or since the significant change, CARES will request SEIRFs for a combination of current and future months, per program policy. If the Number of SEIRF Months calculated exceeds 12, CARES will consider only the most recent 12 months.

SEIRF Begin Month and SEIRF End Month

The Begin Month field will display the start month and year from which SEIRF information will be requested (from either the "When did this business begin?" or Significant Change Month field).

The End Month field will generally display the end month and year up to which SEIRF information will be requested. However, if the begin month is less than three months prior to the system month, then the end month will be set as either one or two months in the future.

Note: If the SEIRF end month calculated on the Verification Due Dates page is different than the SEIRF end month noted on the Self-Employment page, CWW will request an additional SEIRF month on the Verification Checklist and the end month will be updated to reflect what was requested of the individual.

Display Tax/SEIRF Results

Workers must click the Display Tax/SEIRF Results button any time workers update one of the following fields in the "Additional Information" section on an case (after updating the Effective Month field):

- Business Ownership Type
- Business Type
- When did this business begin?
- Has this business filed taxes?
- Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business
- Has a significant change in business occurred? (except if the field is changed to ?, F, or WN)
- Significant Change Month

Clicking the Display Tax/SEIRF Results button will remove the prior verification code and display the Tax/SEIRF Form Verification field as blank (which would also blank out and remove the Tax Form(s) or SEIRF dynasection) unless the redetermination would <u>not</u> result in a different dynasection.

Example 1: On July 1, 2019, a worker enters self-employment information in the "Additional Information" section, then clicks Display Tax/SEIRF Results. The Tax Form(s) dynasection displays. The next day, the worker changes the Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business from 2017 to 2016, and clicks Display Tax/SEIRF Results. This redetermination changes the required form to SEIRFs which blanks out and removes the Tax Form(s) dynasection.

However, if the worker had instead only changed the value for the month in the "When did this business begin?" field from March to February, the redetermination would not change the required form, and the Tax Form(s) dynasection would remain when the worker clicks Display Tax/SEIRF Results.

Note: Workers should always create a new self-employment sequence rather than repurposing the existing one.

Tax Form(s) Dynasection or Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

Depending on information entered within the "Self-Employment Information" section, either the Tax Form(s) dynasection or Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection will display.

Note: Workers cannot update income or expense information in either type of dynasection until all requested verification has been received.

Tax Form(s) Dynasection

The Tax Form(s) dynasection will display depending on the information derived from the "Additional Information" section. All of the following conditions must be true for the Tax Form(s) dynasection to display:

- The month and year entered for "When did this business begin?" is six or more months prior to the current month and year, and at least one month is a full month of the reported tax year.
- The response to "Has this business filed taxes?" is Yes.
- The year entered for Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business is within the past two years (e.g., tax years 2018 and 2017 only are valid for calendar year 2019).
- One of the following must also be true:
 - The response to "Has a significant change in business occurred?" is No, and the Significant Change Month is blank; or
 - The response to "Has a significant change in business occurred?" is Yes, and the month and year entered in the Significant Change Month field is prior to the year entered in the Most Recent Tax Year Filed For Business field.

Completing the Tax Form(s) Dynasection

The Tax Form(s) dynasection collects all income and expense information for the business when tax forms are used as verification. Every field in the dynasection except Gross Income (if Loss) requires a response. Workers will enter information reported in federal tax forms and schedules into the Tax Form(s) dynasection. Process Help, Section 16.2 Self-Employment Income will be updated with tables which will match lines in the federal tax form to a field in the dynasection.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 18 of 42

•			
• Gross Income:	\$ · _	* Federal, State, and Local Income Tax:	\$
Gross Income (If Loss):	\$	* Charitable Donations:	\$
Gross Expense:	\$ · · ·	* Guaranteed Payments to Partners:	\$
Depreciation:	\$ · [* Employer Work-Related Personal Expens	es: \$
* Depletion:	\$ · [* Work-Related Personal Expenses:	\$
* Amortization:	\$ 	* Principal Payments on Loans:	\$

Figure 11 Tax Form(s) Dynasection

The following field names in the Tax Form(s) dynasection have been abbreviated from its full title in the IRS form. The abbreviated field names are displayed in the screenshot above.

- Employer Work-Related Personal Expenses (includes pensions, employee benefit and retirement programs, and/or profit sharing)
- Principal Payments on Loans for the Purchase Price of Income Producing Real Estate, Capital Assets/ Equipment, and Durable Goods

All potentially disallowed expenses for the different program areas are listed. Not all of these expenses apply to each business ownership type or IRS form, so workers may not find all of these. For example, guaranteed payments to partners is only applicable to partnerships. Workers should only be entering non-zero amounts for each of the expenses if the expense is specifically reported on the IRS form(s) or schedule.

Workers must enter a value in either the Gross Income field or Gross Income (if Loss) field, but not both. If the tax forms indicate that the income is a positive value, the value should be entered in the Gross Income field. If it is a negative value (or a loss), the value should be entered in the Gross Income (if Loss) field. If any amount greater than zero is entered in one field, only a \$0 value can be entered in the other.

Worker Processing Specific to Wisconsin Shares

Wisconsin Shares Child Care policy requires self-employed parents to submit copies of their personal and business taxes that have been filed with the IRS, including all schedules and attachments for the most recent tax year, at application and annual renewal. Workers must include a "note from your worker" on the Verification Checklist that requests all income tax forms and all schedules for Wisconsin Shares.

Entering Reported Depletion and Depreciation as Expenses in Schedule E

Depletion and depreciation are reported on the same line of the Schedule E. They are disallowed expenses for FoodShare and Caretaker Supplement. If a value is entered in, enter the full amount within the Depreciation field and enter zero in the Depletion field.

However, if Wisconsin Shares is requested on the case, additional steps must be taken. Per policy, Wisconsin Shares allows depletion as an expense, but does not allow depreciation. If a value is entered in the Depreciation and Depletion line of Schedule E, workers must contact the individual or send a

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 19 of 42

verification checklist specifically asking the individual to identify what portion of the value is depletion and what portion of the expense is depreciation. This would require a worker note on the verification checklist. If verification is received by the due date, workers should update the depletion and depreciation amounts on the Self-Employment page. If verification is not received, the full value of the Schedule E's Depreciation and Depletion field should be entered into the Self-Employment page's Depreciation field.

Using Worker Worksheets

Due to the complexity and use of multiple IRS tax forms, workers are required to use worker worksheets when calculating self-employment income for S-Corporations (Self-Employment Income Worksheet: S Corporation (Schedule K-1 [Form 1120S] and Form 1120S), <u>F-16035</u>) and partnerships (Self-Employment Income Worksheet: Partnership (Schedule K-1 [Form 1065] and Form 1065), <u>F-16036</u>). Worker worksheets will be updated to calculate the correct income and expenses for workers to enter into the Self-Employment page.

All other self-employment worker worksheets will become obsolete, as workers will enter the information from the tax forms directly onto the Self-Employment page.

Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

The Self-Employment page will display the Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection when one of the following sets of conditions is met:

#	When did this business begin?	Has this business filed taxes?	Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business	Has a significant change in business occurred?	Significant Change Month
1	Date entered	No	Blank (no entry)	No (worker- entered)	Blank(no entry)
2	Date entered	No	Blank (no entry)	Yes	Date entered
3	Date less than six months before the application or renewal/review month	Yes	Date within the past two years from the current year	No	Blank (no entry)
4	Date entered	Yes	Date more than two years prior to the current year	No	Blank (no entry)
5	Date entered	Yes	Date within the past two years from the current year	Yes	Same date or later as the date in the Most Recent Tax Year Filed For Business field
6	Date entered	Yes	Date more than two years prior to the current year	Yes	Date entered

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 20 of 42

The type of SEIRF displayed (regular or farm) depends on whether the Business Type is a farm or any other type of business.

In addition, the Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection will only display if a passing verification code for IM programs is selected.

The number of SEIRFs requested is dependent upon values entered in the "When did this business begin?" field, the Significant Change Month field, and the current (system) date. The end month is based on the last full month (the month prior to the current date), unless estimating income and expenses for a future month. Only the months calculated with the range of SEIRF Months will be displayed within the Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection.

Self-Employment Incor	ne Report Forms	▼Expand All Collapse All
▼ Farm SEIRF		
SEIRF Month(s):	Jan 2019 🗌 Feb 2019 🗌 Mar 2019	

Figure 12 Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection Displaying a Three Month Range

Workers can enter self-employment information for a specific SEIRF month or multiple selected SEIRF months. However, workers must enter the information based on how the individual completed the SEIRF forms. For example, if the individual combined their expenses for two months, then workers would select those two months and enter the income and expenses for those combined months, but if the individual listed their income and expenses for each individual month, workers must enter the income and expenses for each individual month. When SEIRF months are listed, workers may only check the checkboxes of SEIRF months in chronological order. As a worker moves through the number of SEIRFs requested, the list of SEIRFs will dynamically update and display the remaining months still needing to be addressed.

See <u>attachment 2</u> for a chart that illustrates how the number of SEIRF months is determined.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 21 of 42

Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

The regular Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection will display fields for workers to enter information on gross income and gross expenses.

Self-Employment Income Report Forms							🗲 Expan	d All	Collapse All
▼ SEIRF									
SEIRF Month(s): 🗌 Jan 2019 🗌 Fel	b 2019 🗌 Mar 20)19							
Gross Business Income									
* Gross Receipts and/or Sales:	\$								
* Other Income - Specify:	\$								
Gross Business Expenses									
Wages and Commissions Paid to Employees:	s		* Advertising,	Dues, and	Publication	ons:	\$		
 Employee Benefit Programs, Pensions, and Profit Sharing: 	s		* Taxes (do not include income taxes): * Insurance:				\$		
* Travel:	s	The surance. The surance of Income Producing Accests:					୍ ୩ ଜ		
* Vehicle:	s	Principal Payment on Loope:				. ۲			
* Rent or Lease:	s			nent on Loans.					
* Repairs and Maintenance:	s	Depreciation:							
* Telephone and Utilities:	s		Amortization	গ					
Materials and Supplies:	s		* Amoruzauon				স		•
* Freight:	s								
* Legal and Professional Fees:	s								
Other Expenses				Disallo	wed Expe	nses For			
* Description		* Amount		FS	MAGI	EBD	CTS	CC	W-2
		s							\checkmark
		s							\checkmark
		s							\checkmark
Based on client's response, populate to	olank fields as '0'								
							Add	d Additio	onal SEIRF(s)

Figure 13 Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

Certain expenses will be automatically counted as disallowed expenses based on each program's policy.

Note: The CC Only Invalid Expense field will no longer display on the Self-Employment page. If an expense reported on the SEIRF needs to be counted as income, enter the description and the invalid expense amount in the "Other Expenses" section and check the box for Wisconsin Shares (CC).

Workers can enter up to three instances or descriptions of an Other Expense if the individual has listed any other expenses on their SEIRF. For these instances, workers must type a description of the expense and the amount (as reported on the individual's SEIRF) and identify if the expense is a disallowed expense per each program policy, regardless of which program(s) the individual has requested on the case:

- If the corresponding program checkbox is checked, the expense will be counted as a disallowed expense for that program (that means it will be added back to the individual's income).
- If program checkboxes are not checked, the expense will be allowed by the program.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 22 of 42

Because all expenses are disallowed for W-2, the checkboxes for W-2 will be checked by default.

<u>Process Help, Section 16.2 Self-Employment Income</u> has a chart of the disallowed expenses per program policy.

Farm Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

The Farm Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection will display a different set of expenses compared with the regular SEIRF. However, the expenses that will be automatically counted as disallowed expenses (based on each program's policy), as well as the Other Expenses field where workers can manually enter expenses, will be the same.

Self-Employment Income Report Forms							▼Бфа	and All 🕨	Collapse All
✓ Farm SEIRF									
SEIRF Month(s): Jan 2019 Feb 2	2019 🗌 Mar 201	19							
Gross Business Income									
* Gross Receipts and/or Sales:	Б .								
* Other Income - Specify:	δ								
Gross Business Expenses									
* Veterinary, Medicine, and Breeding:	δ		* Repairs and	Maintenar	ice:		s		· .
* Fertilizers, Lime, and Chemicals:	ē		* Telephone a	nd Utilities	:		s		· 🗆 💧
* Feed, Seeds, and Plants:	ē		* Materials and	d Supplies	-		s		· 🗆 💧
* Storage and Warehousing:	5		* Freight:				S		· 🗆 💧
* Cost of Livestock Purchased for Resale:	5		Legal and Pr	ofessional	Fees:		s		
* Gasoline, Fuel, and Oil:	5 .		* Advertising, I	Dues, and	Publicatio	ns:	s		
* Conservation:	δ		* Taxes (do no	t include i	ncome tax	es):	s		· 🗆 💧
* Custom Hire (Machine Work) and Hired g Labor:	6 .		* Insurance:				s		
* Wages and Commissions Paid to	5		* Purchase Pri	ce of Inco	me-Produ	cing Asse	ts: s		
* Employee Benefit Programs, Pensions, and Profit Sharing:	δ		* Depreciation		Julia.		খ s		
* Travel:	5		* Depletion:				s		
* Vehicle:	5		* Amortization:				s		
* Rent or Lease:	6 .						,		
Other Expenses				Disallov	wed Expe	nses For			
* Description	*	Amount		FS	MAGI	EBD	CTS	CC	W-2
	ş	s	•						\checkmark
	\$	s							\checkmark
	S	S	•						✓
Based on client's response, populate bla	ınk fields as '0'								
							A	dd Additior	al SEIRF(s)

Figure 14 Farm Self-Employment Income Report Forms Dynasection

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 23 of 42

Additional Considerations for the SEIRF Form(s) Dynasection

Workers must enter information in CWW exactly as it is reported on the SEIRFs. In order to assist workers in doing so, the following enhancements have been embedded within the Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection.

Add Additional SEIRF(s) Button

Once workers select a SEIRF Month checkbox or multiple SEIRF Month checkboxes from the SEIRF Month list displayed, they must click the Add Additional SEIRF(s) button to populate an additional blank SEIRF section.

Copy SEIRF Data Button

If information reported remains exactly the same from SEIRF Month to SEIRF Month, workers can copy the prior month SEIRF information in the series by clicking the Copy SEIRF Data button. This is useful when, for example, an individual has reported three months of information on the SEIRF, and each month has the exact same income and expenses. Workers should build each SEIRF Month separately, but the Copy SEIRF Data button makes this process less error prone.

Note: Before using this button, workers must be sure that information reported is exactly the same.



Figure 15 Copy SEIRF Data Button

Display Data Entered Into CWW

Workers have the option to view SEIRF data entered into CWW as a PDF file format for comparison with information provided by the individual on the SEIRF.

SEIRF Determination - Program Add

If a Program-Add request is made on a case with self-employment income, workers must use the existing SEIRF information, instead of re-verifying it, if all of the following are true:

- A recent determination was made;
- SEIRFs were used;
- No significant change has been reported by the individual; and
- The business has not filed taxes in the meantime.

Example 2: Mark applied for health care in January 2019. At that time, he reported a significant change to his business that occurred earlier in December 2018. The worker ran eligibility on the case on January 10, 2019. A Verification Checklist was sent requesting SEIRFs for December 2018 - February 2019. Mark returned the verification and the average was used to prospectively budget his income.

In April 2019, Mark requested FoodShare and Wisconsin Shares. His business has not filed taxes and has not had another significant change since December.

The worker must use the budgeted SEIRF information for December 2018 – February 2019. The worker should not re-request SEIRFs for December 2018 – February 2019 or request a SEIRF for March 2019.

Self-Employment Income Reporting Forms

The business type will continue to determine the type of SEIRF included with the Verification Checklist. If the business type is farm, a Self-Employment Income Report: Farm Business, <u>F-00219</u>, will be included. For any other business type, the Self-Employment Income Report, <u>F-00107</u>, will be included.

Since a SEIRF captures three months of information, the number of SEIRFs included with the Verification Checklist will be dependent on the number of months of information being requested. SEIRF instructions will only be included once per Verification Checklist, regardless of the number of months of information being requested. As an example, if six months of information is being requested, two SEIRFs with one set of instructions will be included with the Verification Checklist. If both the farm SEIRF and regular SEIRF are sent with a Verification Checklist, a copy of both sets of instructions will be included.

The following information, if known, will be populated on the form:

- Individual Name
- Case Number
- Business Type
- Business Name
- Significant Change Date
- Business Months and Years

For an example of a SEIRF when six months of information is requested, refer to attachment 3.

Details and Summary Section

The "Details and Summary" section (formerly titled "Details") consists of three sections:

- Monthly Income Details
- Countable Monthly Income Summary
- Obsolete Information (no changes will be made to this section)

When verification is pending, the section will display only the reported gross income and expenses.

Once verification is received and the Tax Form or Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection has been completed, workers must click the Calculate button to prompt CARES to calculate the individual's gross income and expenses, disallowed expenses by program, and countable income per program. CARES will populate this information in each of the fields in each of the sections.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 25 of 42

Details and Summary	Details and Summary								
Monthly Income Details	Calculate								
		Override Amounts	Override Reason						
Gross Income:	\$ 2000.00	\$	▼						
Gross Expenses:	\$ 1500.00	\$	▼						
Disallowed Expenses:									
FS:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
MAGI:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
EBD:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
CTS:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
CC:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
W-2:	\$ 0	\$	▼						
Comment:			\sim						
	Current Size = 0 characters (100	0 characters max.)							
Countable Monthly Inco	ome Summary								
FS: \$	500.00 ±	CTS: \$	500.00 🛨						
MAGI: \$	500.00 	CC: \$	500.00 🖭						
EBD: \$	500.00 ±	W-2: \$	2,000.00 +						

Figure 16 Details and Summary Section

Monthly Income Details Section

The "Monthly Income Details" section (see **Figure 16**) displays calculated amounts, including gross income, gross expenses, and disallowed expenses for FS, MAGI, EBD, CTS, CC, and W-2, once the Calculate button is clicked. Disallowed expenses will display for every program regardless of whether or not the program was requested.

Information in the Gross Income and Gross Expenses fields will be populated with information derived from the Tax Form or Self-Employment Income Report Forms dynasection if the Tax/SEIRF Form Verification field has a valid code. This means that once the Calculate button is clicked, information will display, but workers will be unable to update such information. Otherwise, when the Tax/SEIRF Form Verification field has a pending or failure value (?, Q?, QV, NV, WN, etc.) and there is no dynasection, these two fields will be enabled so that workers can enter a value.

CARES has been programmed to calculate the correct values based on program policies. However, workers can use the Override Amounts field to update the Gross Income, Gross Expense, or Disallowed Expense fields. If an override value is entered, workers must then select an option from the Override Reason field to explain why the updated amount is appropriate.

Here is a list of valid override reasons:

- AE Agency Error
- CE Client Error
- FH Fair Hearing
- PO Policy Update
- SE System Error

Details and Summary						
Monthly Income Details	Calculate					
			Override Amou	unts	Override Reason	
* Gross Income:	\$ 10	0.00	\$			
# Gross Expenses:	\$ 2	5.00	\$		AE - AGENCY ERROR CE - CLIENT ERROR	
Disallowed Expenses:					FH - FAIR HEARING	
FS:	\$	4.00	s .		SE - SYSTEM ERROR	
MAGI:	\$	0 . 00	s .		~ ~	
EBD:	\$	0.00	s .		~ ~	
CTS:	\$ 2	4.00	s .		~ ~	
CC:	\$	0 . 00	s .		~ ~	
W-2:	\$ 2	4.00	\$		~	

Figure 17 Monthly Income Section Override Reasons Drop-Down Menu

- To override an amount, workers must do the following:
- 1. Enter a value in the Override Amount field.
- 2. Select an option from the Override Reason field.
- 3. Click Calculate.

The values entered in the Override Amount fields will be used in determining eligibility and will be included in the Countable Monthly Income Summary on the Self-Employment page, the Employment Summary page, budget pages, the preprinted renewal form (PPRF), the case summary, and other correspondence.

Note: The Override Amounts fields should rarely be used. These fields were built onto the Self-Employment page to account for tax law changes and updates to program policy that cannot be immediately updated in CARES.

Countable Monthly Income Summary Section

The "Countable Monthly Income Summary" section (see **Figure 16** Details and Summary Section) displays a monthly income summary for FS, MAGI, EBD, CTS, CC, and W-2 based on the reported income, expenses, and disallowed expenses. The amount displayed here is relevant only for this business and will not reflect other income or expenses recorded on the case. If other income and/or expenses are reported on the case, this summary will not match budget page totals.

Note: If income received is a negative number, the negative income will be represented in parentheses. In other words, (\$100) equals a \$100 loss.

In addition, workers can click the + icon to display information on how the number displayed is calculated.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 27 of 42

Self-Employment and Conflict Panels

When workers process renewals, change reports, program adds, and FoodShare Six Month Report Forms received through ACCESS, conflict panels will display on the Self-Employment page.

Most fields in the "Self-Employment Information" section will be displayed in the auto-conflict section of the conflict panel. Only three fields will be displayed in the manual conflict section:

- Gross Income
- Gross Expenses
- Number of months for average

Based on the new information entered and populated, the Self-Employment page will display the Tax Form(s) or SEIRFs dynasection. Workers may pend for further verification using appropriate pend codes.

III S	Self-Employment Cancel Cancel								
The	following events have occurred:								
🕅 🔊	281: Existing case information is displaye	d on th	is page.						
The f	following conflicts have occurred								
Selec	t either CARES or Client Reported Inform	nation							
	Field	3	CARES Information		Client Reported Information				
1	Begin Month	0	04/2018	0	05/2019				
2	Monthly Hours	\bigcirc	10	\bigcirc	25				
3	Business Name	\bigcirc	BUSINESS 1	\bigcirc	BUSINESS				
4	Most Recent Tax Year Filed for Business	\bigcirc	2017	\bigcirc	2018				
					Update				
The fo	ollowing information must be updated ma	anually	r.						
1	There is a conflict in 'Gross Income'. Clien	t report	ed '200.00'.						
2	There is a conflict in 'Gross Expenses'. Cli	ent rep	orted '201.00'.						
					Completed 2 of 4				

Figure 18 Conflict Panel for the Self-Employment Page

Significant Change Question in the Conflict Panel

What the individual enters as a response to the "For what tax year did this business last file taxes?" question or the "Has this business had a significant change in income or expenses?" question in ACCESS will impact what information displays in the Conflict Panel and what workers must do to resolve conflicts.

If the individual has responded to the Significant Change question with Yes or I don't know, the conflict panel will display Doesn't Know or Questionable. Workers must contact the individual to discuss the possible significant change. If the worker is unable to contact the individual, they must pend the significant change. Since the response to this question impacts the entire page, workers do not have access to other information reported by the individual until that response is confirmed (though workers can update the Comments box).

333 S	elf-Employment				Cancel Reset					
The	following events have occurred	:								
🕐 A	AE281: Existing case information is displayed on this page.									
The	The following conflicts have occurred. Select either CARES or Client Reported Information									
	Field		CARES Information	3	Client Reported Information					
1	Has a significant change in business occurred?	0	NO	۲	DOESN'T KNOW OR QUESTIONABLE					
					Update					
					Completed 0 of 4					

Figure 19 Conflict Panel Displaying Doesn't Know or Questionable

If workers change the response to the Significant Change question from ? to Yes, workers will then need to either look at the application PDF or collect the information required from the member.

If the individual has responded No to the question regarding a significant change, the other information the individual reported will be displayed in the auto-conflict and manual conflict fields.

Backdated Eligibility

When SEIRFs are required and workers are determining backdated requests for health care, workers should build the application month on the Self-Employment page first, and then use the Date Navigator to add backdated months.

Example 3: Maggie applied for Medicaid and FoodShare in June and requested backdated eligibility to March. She has been self-employed as a seamstress since February of the same year.

When processing this request, the worker would first create a Self-Employment page with a Begin Month of June (application month).

Taking this action would allow CARES to request SEIRFs for all available months (February through May). Income averaged and/or derived from these four months would be used to determine eligibility in June and ongoing for both Medicaid and FoodShare.

In order to account for the backdate request for Medicaid, the worker uses the Date Navigator to add any recurring month(s), in this example, March, to the same self-employment sequence.

If Maggie had applied for Medicaid in March, CWW would have requested SEIRFs as verification of her self-employment. More specifically, February, March, and April SEIRFs would have been requested and used as verification for the backdated months (March, April, and May).

Note: Although the average for the backdated month differs from the application month and ongoing average, by building the application month before building the backdated months, CWW can request the information needed from Maggie for all required months. The averages may be different; however, the core numbers used to find such averages remain the same.

Example 4: Glenn applied for Medicaid in September and requested backdated eligibility to June. He has been self-employed as a farmer, but reported having a true significant change in circumstances in May.

When processing this request, the worker initially created a Self-Employment page with a Begin Month of September (application month). However, on that September page, the worker enters May as the Significant Change Month.

As a result, the CWW requests SEIRFs for all months since the significant change – May through August. The May through August average income was used for eligibility for the application month of September and ongoing.

To account for the backdated request, the worker added the Begin Month of June (the earliest month of the backdated request) using the Date Navigator.

If Glenn had applied in June, CWW would have requested May, June, and July SEIRFs. This average would need to be used for the backdated months (June, July, and August).

In this scenario, two different averages are used for the two different Begin Months of the page; however, the numbers used to find such averages have remained the same.

Example 5: Hershel applied for BadgerCare Plus and FoodShare for himself in April. Hershel also requested backdated eligibility to January.

Hershel owns a bakery and filed taxes. However, he reports that his previous year's taxes no longer reflect his earnings due to a true significant change that occurred in March.

When processing this request, the worker created a Self-Employment page with a Begin Month of April (application month). The worker also documented March as the Significant Change Month.

As a result, CWW requested SEIRFs for March, April, and May. This average was used to budget monthly income for April and ongoing for BadgerCare Plus and FoodShare.

To account for the backdate request, the worker used the date navigator to add January. If Hershel had applied in January, taxes would have been requested and used as verification of his income in January and February. However, because of the significant change, because taxes no longer reflected the income received, March would also need to be added into Hershel's Self-Employment page. For March, an average of March, April, and May SEIRFs would be used in eligibility determinations.

Applicant	Application Month (and Average Income)	Backdated Month (and Average Income)
Maggie	June: SEIRFs (February, March, April, and May)	March: SEIRFs (February, March, and April)
Glenn	September: SEIRFs (May, June, July, and August)	June: SEIRFs (May, June, and July)
Hershel	April: SEIRFs (March, April, and May)	January: Taxes March: SEIRFs (March, April, and May)

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 30 of 42

Remember, if a backdate request also reports self-employment, workers should first build the sequence for the application month. This will result in CARES requesting the correct number of SEIRFs needed for eligibility and displaying the correct range of SEIRFs requested on the Self-Employment page (except for one scenario noted below).

If the backdated month is built prior to the application month, workers may need to navigate back to the backdated month when verification is received and update the SEIRF Begin Month and SEIRF End Month fields to reflect what information was actually verified. In this scenario, CWW will have set the range of SEIRFs up to the month prior to the system date rather than the correct range of months based on the backdated month.

Consider Example 3: If the worker had built the backdated month of March first in Maggie's case, CARES would require workers to enter SEIRFs for February, March, April, and May for the backdated month of March. That would be incorrect budgeting if she had applied in March, so the worker must change the SEIRF End Month from May to April, and the Number of SEIRF Months would need change from four to three.

However, even when workers first build the application month, some adjustment may be necessary when the combined range of SEIRFs for the backdated period and the application month exceed 12 months. Because only the most recent 12 months of SEIRFs will be requested of the individual, the SEIRF Begin Month will need to be adjusted accordingly (for the backdated month).

EMPLOYMENT SUMMARY PAGE

Monthly gross income and monthly gross expenses will be displayed in the "Self-Employment Income" section of the Employment Summary page. If a worker has entered an override value for either of these fields on the Self-Employment page, the override value will be displayed on the Employment Summary page. The Disallowed Expenses column will no longer be displayed (because each program has different disallowed expenses).

Self-	Employment Income										
Row	Individual	Begin Month	End Month	Last Updated	Delete Reason	Seq	Туре	Gross Income	Gross Expense		
		04/2019		05/07/2019		5	CONSULTING	\$1,000.00	\$500.00	\bigcirc	٩
		04/2019		05/07/2019		4	FARMING	\$5,000.00	\$5,500.00	\bigcirc	٩
		03/2019		04/25/2019		3	FOOD AND HOSPITALITY SERVICES	\$6,000.00	\$6,700.00	\bigcirc	٩
		03/2019		05/06/2019		2	FOOD AND HOSPITALITY SERVICES	\$0.00	\$0.00	Ð	9
		03/2019		04/18/2019		1	CONSULTING	\$800.00	\$600.00	\bigcirc	٩

Figure 20 Self-Employment Income Section of the Employment Summary Page

EMPLOYMENT SUMMARY DETAILS PAGE

Workers can access the "Self-Employment Summary Details" section of the Employment Summary Details page by clicking the "blue clock" icon from the Employment Summary page (see **Figure 20**). The section will be updated to display the monthly countable income per benefit program (FS, MAGI, EBD, CTS, CC, and W-2), regardless of what is (or is not) requested on the case for self-employment sequences created after implementation. For sequences created before implementation, these fields will

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 31 of 42

be blank. The Gross Income, Gross Expense, and Disallowed Expense columns will no longer be displayed in this section. Instead, workers can find Gross Income and Gross Expenses on the Employment Summary page.

388 Emp	Employment Summary Details									
Self-Emp	Self-Employment Summary Details									
Individua	Individual/Sequence									
Individua	al:									
Sequen	ce: 5									
Details	Details									
Begin Month	End Month	Last Updated	Delete Reason	Туре	FS	MAGI	EBD	CTS	СС	W-2
04/2019		05/07/2019		CONSULTING	\$500.00	\$500.00	\$500.00	\$500.00	\$500.00	\$1,000.00

Figure 21 Self-Employment Section of the Employment Summary Details Page

BC+ TAX DEDUCTIONS GATEPOST PAGE AND BC+ TAX DEDUCTIONS PAGE

BadgerCare Plus and Family Planning Only Services are the only programs that consider a net operating loss (NOL) as an allowable deduction (see <u>BadgerCare Plus Eligibility Handbook, Section 16.3.3 Tax</u> <u>Deductions</u>).

Workers will enter NOL deductions on the BC+ Tax Deductions page (rather than the Self-Employment page). A new field – "NL-Net operating loss/Net loss carryover (NOL)?" – will be added to the "Ongoing BC+ Tax Deductions" section of the BC+ Tax Deductions Gatepost page.

CWW will continue to budget the NOL deduction until one of the following happens:

- The worker end-dates the page.
- The worker updates the Verification field to NV or QV.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 32 of 42

🚟 BC+ Tax Ded	Cancel	Reset Total: 1
Effective Period	End Manth: Land Land Land Land Land Land Land Land	
* Begin Monul.	06 / 2019 End Month. MM / YYYY Last opdated. 00/00/2019	
Delete Reason:	✓ "Ξ	
BC+ Tax Deduction Inf	formation	
Individual:	Sequence: 1	
Deduction Type:	NL - NET OPERATING LOSS/NET LOSS CARRYOVER (NOL) 📺	
Deduction Selected:	Ongoing MAGI Tax Deduction	
Ongoing Deduction Inf	formation	
* Frequency Period:	AN - ANNUALLY 🗸 📜	
* Total BC+ Amount:	\$ 2400 . 00 * Verification: TX - TAX RECORDS	~ 🗉
* Monthly BC+ Amount:	\$ 200 . 00	Calculate
Calendar Year Deducti	ion Information	
* Number of Months:	* Incurred Month: MM / YYYY	
* Total BC+ Amount:	\$ • Verification:	
* Monthly BC+ Amount:	\$	Calculate
1	🕚 🕕 Enter New Begin Month: 🛛 🕅 🖉 🕥 🚺	
(* 2	Individual Sequence Updated on or before MM /DD / YYYY Go	
Add Case Comment	Cancel 🗆 🖪 Previous	lext 🕨

Figure 22 BC+ Tax Deductions Page With an Ongoing NOL Deduction

VERIFICATION CHECKLIST PAGE

If workers have entered a pending value for any of the following fields on the Self-Employment page, the Verification Checklist page will display the information under the "Pending Information / Verification" column:

- Has a significant change in business occurred?
- Tax/SEIRF Form
- Monthly Hours

🕮 Verificatio	on Checklist			Cancel	R	eset
Application Entry Section	Individual	Туре	Pending Information / Verification	Assistance Group / Se	e equence	
Employment		Self Employment : BAIT BUSINESS :	 Has a significant change in business occurred? 	FS	01	٩
				MAGS	01	
		Self Employment : SELLING	- Monthly Hours	FS	01	
		BLOOD	- Tax/SEIRF Form	FS	01	

Figure 23 Verification Checklist Page Displaying Pending Items

Note: The Pending/Not Verified page will be updated to mirror changes made to the Verification Checklist page.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 33 of 42

VERIFICATION DUE DATES PAGE

SEIRF Months are calculated from the month previous to the mailing of the Verification Checklist and the Significant Change Month (or the month for "When did this Business begin?" if the Significant Change Month does not apply).

If the SEIRF End Month (on the Self-Employment page) does not match the previous month from the mailing of the Verification Checklist (on the Verification Due Dates page), the actual SEIRF Months will be recalculated so that the SEIRF End Month matches the previous month from the mailing once more.

The Verification Due Dates page will recalculate the actual SEIRF months under the following conditions:

- If the calculated SEIRF Month range is greater than 12 months, the page will adjust to request only the most recent 12 months. The SEIRF Begin Month will be adjusted to the first month of the 12 months, and the SEIRF End Month will be the month previous to the mailing of the Verification Checklist.
- On recalculating the SEIRF Begin Month, SEIRF End Month, and number of SEIRF Months requested, the Self-Employment page will automatically update to display information requested via the Verification Checklist.

Workers will be notified by a yellow informational banner to state that the SEIRF months have been recalculated.

III Verifica	tion Du	e Dates								Cancel Reset
The following events have occurred:										
GL388: Number of SEIRF months, SEIRF End Month, and/or SEIRF Begin Month for BAIT AND TACKLE has updated on Self- Employment page. Click 'Next'.										
Assistance Group	Sequence	Verification Due Date	Verification Ex Due Date	tended	Verification Extended Due Date Reason	Applica	ation/Ren	newal Due	Date	Application/Renewal Reason
	01	06/28/2019	MM /DD	/	1	MM	/DD	/YYYY	2	▼
Preview Verification Checklist Correspondence										
Add Case	Comment						Cance	a 🗆 🕻	(Prev	vious Next 🕨



Example 6: Recalculation of SEIRF Months

On July 30, Mary applied for BadgerCare Plus. She started her business delivering newspapers in February of this year. The same day, the worker creates the self-employment page. The SEIRF end month on the self-employment page is June and the estimated number of SEIRF Months calculated is five (February to June).

However, the worker does not run eligibility and mail the Verification Checklist until August 2. In this case, the actual SEIRF end month is July, and the actual estimated number of SEIRF months calculated is six (February to July). As a result, the estimated number of SEIRFs and the SEIRF End Month on the Self-Employment page are updated to match.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 34 of 42

CORRESPONDENCE

VERIFICATION CHECKLIST

The "Proof Needed" section of the Verification Checklist will be updated to request self-employment income and expenses verification together and to request the average monthly hours worked verification separately. The proof examples that display will be dependent on the requested verification, type of form, and business ownership type. See <u>attachment 4</u> for the specific pend codes, including text and proof examples.



Proof Needed

This section lists items that we need proof of by the due date listed below. Contact us right away if you have questions or problems getting the proof and we will help you.

What?	Who?	Examples*	Program(s)	Due Date
Income and expenses for : ANNA'S BUSINESS	ANNA	Most recently filed IRS tax forms and schedules, such as Form 4797 or Schedule C, C-EZ, E, or F	FoodShare; BadgerCare Plus	DATE
Average number of hours worked per month for :	ANNA	Written or verbal statement about the number of hours worked	FoodShare; BadgerCare Plus	DATE
		Call the agency listed on page one to give a verbal statement.		

Figure 25 Verification Checklist Proof Needed Section

Note: Changes to the "Proof Needed" section of the Verification Checklist also apply to the Notice of Decision and the Notice of Pending. The information will display in the "What Was Needed" section.

The "Action Needed" section will be updated to request an individual call his or her agency if a discussion regarding a reported significant change is pending.

Action Needed

This section lists actions that you need to take by the due date listed below. Contact us right away if you have questions or problems and we will help you.

What?	Who?	What to do?	Program(s)	Due Date
You need to give us more information about the significant change to your self- employment business.	ANNA	Call the agency listed on page one.	FoodShare; BadgerCare Plus	DATE

Figure 26 Verification Checklist Action Needed Section

If an individual reports a NOL deduction, and a worker pends this information on the BC+ Tax Deduction page, this information will display in the "Proof Needed" section.

Proof Needed

This section lists items that we need proof of by the due date listed below. Contact us right away if you have questions or problems getting the proof and we will help you.

What?	Who?	Examples*	Program(s)	Due Date		
NET OPERATING LOSS/NET LOSS CARRYOVER (NOL) : Amount you are claiming for this tax deduction	ANNA	- Copy of check stubs - Receipts - Prior tax returns	BadgerCare Plus	DATE		
*If you do not have any of the examples of proof listed, there are other things you can use. For a complete list of examples, go online to <u>dhs.wi.gov/em/customerhelp</u> or contact us.						

Figure 27 Verification Checklist Proof Needed Section With NOL Item

FOODSHARE SIX-MONTH REPORT FORM

The "Self-Employment" section of the FoodShare Six-Month Report form, <u>F-16076</u>, will be updated to display the business name, average monthly expenses, and average hours worked per month (if on file) in addition to the individual's name, business type, and monthly income. Gross income, not net income, will display as the average monthly income.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 36 of 42

In addition, the following fields will be added for individuals reporting a new self-employment business:

- Business Name
- Business Ownership Type
- Has the business filed taxes?
- If yes, for what year did the business last file taxes?
- Has the business had a significant change in income or expenses?
- Average Monthly Expenses
- Average Hours Worked Per Month

SECTION 4 (Continued)

C. SELF-EMPLOYMENT

Listed below is the information we have on file for people in your household who are self-employed. If the information has changed, check "Yes," and explain the change in the lines below. If the information has not changed, check "No."

Has this information changed	d?	Name ANNA	MEMBER		
Business Name ABC CONSULTING			Business Type CONSULTING		
Average Monthly Income Average Monthly Expension \$000.00 \$0.00		enses	Average Hours Worked Per Month 000		

If any information has changed, please explain the change below. Use an additional sheet of paper if more room is needed.

If anyone in your household is self-employed and his or her information is not listed above, complete the following:

Household Member's Name ______ Business Name ______

Business Ownership Type
Partnership
S corporation
Sole proprietorship
I don't know

Business Type Date Busines	s Started
----------------------------	-----------

Has the business filed taxes? Yes □ No □ If yes, for what year did the business last file taxes? ____

Has the business had a significant change in income or expenses?

Yes
No
I don't know

Average Monthly Income ______ Average Monthly Expenses ______

Average Hours Worked Per Month _____

Figure 28 FoodShare Six Month Report Form

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 37 of 42

ACCESS

SELF-EMPLOYMENT PAGE CHANGES

The text on the Self-Employment page in ACCESS (Apply for Benefits, Report My Changes, Renew My Benefits, Add a Program, and Six-Month Report Form) will be updated. The following questions will now be required:

- Has this business filed taxes?
- For what tax year did this business last file taxes? (This question will display if the answer to the first question is Yes.)
- Has this business had a significant change in income or expenses?

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 38 of 42

3	Start	More About 's Self-Employment
ă	People	You told us that is self-employed. Please answer the questions below to tell us more about this self-employment.
0	reopie	
A	Other Benefits	Business Information
õ	Liquid Assets	* What type of self-employment business does Performing arts
	Liquid Assets	What is the name of s business?
T	Other Assets	What is the ownership type for this business? Sole Proprietorship
5	Job Income	* In what month and year did Sally start this 03/2014 Ex:mm/yyyy business?
8	Other Income	
0	Managine Pilla	Tax Information
	Housing Bills	What is the tax ID number or Employer Identification Number (EIN) for this business?
	Other Bills	* Has this business filed taxes? (Yes O No
1	Health Insurance	For what tax year did this business last file taxes? 2018 Ex:yyyy
Õ	Submit	* Has this business had a significant change in income or expenses? O Yes
		Income and Expense Information
		If you said this business had a significant change, make sure you tell us the average amount of income and expenses the business has had each month since the significant change.
		On average, how much does this business make each month? Please give \$ 1500 us the income received before expenses are taken out. I don't know
		On average, what are the total expenses this business has each month? I don't know
		On average, how many hours per month does Sally work for this business?

Figure 29 Apply for Benefits Self-Employment Page

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 39 of 42

TAX DEDUCTIONS PAGE CHANGE

Individuals will be able to report net operating loss (NOL) tax deductions on the Tax Deductions page in ACCESS.

ര	Start	-Tax Deductions-
ŏ	People	Check the boxes to tell us the types of deductions each person has. If you need to know more about a deduction, click on Help. If the person doesn't have any of the deductions listed, check the None of these box.
0	Other Benefits	's Tax Deductions
	Liquid Assets	Does have any of these deductions?
Ā	Other Assets	Alimony paid Higher education expenses
\$	Job Income	Does have any of these less common deductions?
8	Other Income	Domestic Production Activities Fee-based officials' tax- Deduction deductible expenses Individual Retirement Account (IRA) Loss from sale of business
	Housing Bills	contributions property ☐ Military reserve members' tax- deductible expenses
	Other Bills	Out-of-pocket costs for a job- related move Penalties for early withdrawal of savings Performing artists' tax-deductible Self-employed retirement plan
Ŧ	Health Insurance	Teachers' tax-deductible expenses Other allowable write-in deductions
	Submit	None of these

Figure 30 Apply for Benefits Tax Deductions Page With Net Operating Loss (NOL) Selected

CASE SUMMARY AND PPRF

The self-employment information on the Case Summary and PPRF will be renamed and reorganized to match changes being made to other correspondence and ACCESS. In addition, the depreciation amount, other disallowed expenses, and additional disallowed expenses for Child Care information will be removed.

Person	Business Name	Business Type	
ANNA MEMBER Age: 00	ABC CONSULTING	CONSULTING	
	Date Business Started	Tax Year Business Last Filed Taxes	
	DATE	20XX	
	Average Monthly Income	Average Monthly Expenses	Average Hours Worked Per Month
	\$000.00		000

Figure 31 Self-Employment Information Section of the Case Summary

This updated section will display regardless of the program requests on the case, including Wisconsin Shares.

Note: If monthly override values have been entered for gross income and gross expenses in the "Details and Summary" section on the Self-Employment page, those amounts will be displayed on the case summary and PPRF. Negative income will be displayed as an expense on correspondence rather than negative income.

DMS, DECE, DFES Operations Memo 19-J7 June 7, 2019 Page 41 of 42

CONVERSION

This section explains when and how workers will need to end-date existing, old-format self-employment sequences, and re-create them in the new format.

WHEN THE OLD-FORMAT SEQUENCES ARE PENDING

If any old-format self-employment pages are pending after implementation, an error message will be displayed on the Self-Employment page and Verification Due Dates page to prompt workers to end-date and re-create the sequence.

In order to prevent incorrect notices from being sent, workers must do the following to end-date an old-format self-employment sequence on the Self-Employment page:

- Select CV-Conversion for all verification codes.
- Zero out the income.

WHEN UPDATING VERIFICATIONS

Workers will be required to end-date and re-create self-employment sequences if they access a sequence in the old format and attempt to update any verification code to a passing or pending code. Workers will <u>not</u> be required to convert old-format Self-Employment sequences if they are only updating a pending verification code to a failing verification code. When end dating an old-format sequence, workers must select CV-Conversion for all verification codes and zero out the income (as described above).

WHEN THERE IS A NET OPERATING LOSS

Net operating loss information will be tracked on the <u>BC+ Tax Deductions page</u> (rather than on the Self-Employment page). After implementation, any NOL expenses built on a Self-Employment page must be end-dated and rebuilt.

WHEN CHANGES ARE REPORTED IN ACCESS

After implementation, ACCESS will gather self-employment information according to the new Self-Employment page format in CWW.

When self-employment information is updated in ACCESS for a renewal or change report, instead of using a conflict panel, workers will have the option to "End date and create new" for the self-employment sequence on the Employment Summary page.

III Employment Summary											Cancel Reset		
The following events have occurred:													
AE279: Please review the client reported information.													
Self-Employment Income													
Case Information													
Row	Individual	Begin Month	End Month	Last Updated	Delete Reason	Seq	Туре	Gross Income		Gross Expense			
Α		10/2018		10/01/2018		1	CONSULTING	\$600.00		\$400.00	00.00		٩
Client Reported Information													
	Individual	What would you like to do?				Туре			Gross Income		Gross Expense		
*		E	End date and create new for A 🗸				CONSULTING \$600			0 \$400.00			

Figure 32 Employment Summary Page With Informational Message

CWW will then display the end-dated, old-format sequence. Workers must create a new selfemployment sequence and refer to the ACCESS PDF when manually entering the self-employment information in the new sequence.

CONTACTS

BEPS CARES Information and Problem Resolution Center

For Wisconsin Shares Child Care policy questions outside of Milwaukee County: Bureau of Regional Operations (BRO), Child Care Coordinators at <u>broccpolicyhelpdesk@wisconsin.gov</u>

For Child Care CARES/CWW and CSAW processing questions statewide and policy questions in Milwaukee County: Child Care Subsidy and Technical Assistance line at <u>childcare@wisconsin.gov</u> or 608-422-7200

For W-2 Policy Questions in the Balance of State: Bureau of Regional Operations, W-2 Regional Coordinators

For W-2 Policy Questions in Milwaukee: Milwaukee Operations Section Regional Administrators

For W-2 WWP and CARES Functionality Questions: W-2 Help Desk

DHS/DMS/BEPS/KD DCF/DECE/BELP/GS DCF/DFES/BWF/KS